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it was during the month of April. But I knew he was gone
pecause that's when my mother died. Yes.
Q Okay. So, did y'all have a -—- okay, in April of 2017.

pid y'all go back inside the church?

A Yes.
Q Okay.
A Yes.

Q And, did v'all have meetings inside the church when
v'all went back in the church? Did y'all go —- let me ask
it this way because I'm being confusing. Prioxr to the

meeting that y'all had with Judge Gravely --

A Mm-hmm .

Q -— I mean, that he ordered --

A Yeah,

Q —— did y'all -~ were y'all in the church body -- in

the church facility at that point?

A Yes.
Q S0, while y'all were in that church body, y'all had to
meet and not do petitions at that point; is that correct?
A Right.

0 Did y'all ever have any votes to terminate him while
y'all were meeting as a church body?

A Yes. Yes, there was a meeting.

0 ALl right. So, when y'all had that meeting, how was

it noticed and how did you operate —- which constitution
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y'all's authorization to do it?

A Well, the deacons didn't come to nme, but yes.

Q I mean, not come to you, but did y'all have a meeting?
A Yes, there was a meeting, but I was not at that
meeting.

Q Okay.

A T wasn't at that meeting,

Q Did you ever sign any documents at any point to
terminate him?

y:\ T signed that petition that was -- the members did.
Q Okay.

A I was here to do that.

0 Why were y'all forced to sign petitions rather than
just meet as a church bedy to do it?

A Well, my understanding, like it's been said, they
wasn't given a meeting, but of course, we would like to
have had a meeting with the whole church. But once we was

able to at least get a meeting at the Enoree River Center,

that was =--

Q Okay. S0 let's -- let's --

A ~~ that's what got us started there.

Q -~ yes, ma’'an. I apologize for cutting in. All

right. S0, as I understand it, he left in January 2017;
is that correct?

A I'm thinking -- well, I just remembered that for sure
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it was during the month of April. But I knew he was gone
because that's when my mother died. Yes.
0 Okay. So, did y'all have a -- okay, in April of 2017.

Did y'all go back inside the church?

A Yes.

Q Okay.

A Yes.

Q And, did y'all have meetings inside the church when
y'all went back in the church? Did y'all go -- let me ask
it this way because I'm being confusing. Prior to the

meeting that y'all had with Judge Gravely --

A Mm~—hmm,

Q -— I mean, that he ordered --
A Yeah,
0 - did y'all -~ were y'all in the church body -- in

the church facility at that point?

A Yes.

0 So, while y'all were in that church body, y'all had to

meet and not do petitions at that point; is that correct?
A Right.

Q pid y'all ever have any votes to terminate him while

y'all were meeting as a church body?

E: Yes. Yes, there was a meeting.

Q All right. So, when y'all had that meeting, how was

it noticed and how did you operate -- which constitution
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did you operate under?

A From my understanding, the 1396 Constitution, because
there wasn't anybody giving the one that he prepared.

Q Okavy. S0 y'all have been under the 1996 constitution
since April of 20177

A Yes.

Q And nolt the constitution that he’'s operaling at a

separate --

A Right.

0 -— location?

A It wasn't his constitution. That was his
Cénstitution.

Q Okay. And his faction's constitution?

A Yes.

Q S0, there's a split, to your ¥nowledge, in the church

as to which constitution is actually the valid
constitution?
A Well, it's not really a split, because the members at
the real Enoree Fork know what the constitution was we
were operating at that time.
0 All right. And you're -- okay.

MR. SMITH: Your witness.

THE COURT: Cross-examination?
//
/7
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CROSS-~EXAMINATION
BY MR. DUNCAN:
Q We're talking about the bylaws. There was a committee
formed that came up with the 2016 constitution and bylaws,
weren't there?
A Nokt that I'm aware of.
Q And that's because you were living out of state a lot?
A Well, true, but I doubt he had a committee. It was
just his typing and his putting together, because 1 don't
know -- I haven’'t heard of anybody ~-- I don't know of
anyone that was on that committee.
0 Okavy. So, you don't know if there was a committee, 18

what you're saying?

A Right.

Q okay. And you -- you testified that you had a house
ig in -- is it New York where you were at?

A Yes.

Q All right. And you were gone a good bit, weren’'t you?
A Some . T mean, I was coming home quite often. My
husband was working until he retired.

Q Right. And he was -- he was working out of town too
around the time of these incidents, though, wasn't he?

A Yes, mm-hmm,.

Q All right. And so, there was a chance both of y'all

were =-- were away from Greenville for a --
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A Some, but I was always connected with my church.
Q -- okay.
MR. DUNCAN: That's all I've got, Your Honor.
MR. SMITH: No further questions, Your Honor.
THE COURT: You may step_down, ma'am.
THE WITNESS: Thank you.
MR. SMITH: Ms. Dorothy Thomason.
(The witness was sworn in.)
THE CLERK: Have a seat here, and state your
name for the record when you get seated.
THE WITNESS: Dorathy —-- Dorothy Thomason,
DOROTHY THOMASON
was called as a witness, and having been first duly sworn,
testified as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. SMITH:

0 Ms. Thomason, where do you live?
A I live in Greenville, South Carolina.
Q Okay. You're younger than me, so I'm not going to ask

your age. Okay?

A I don't know about that.

Q Did you have grandchildren?

A No.

Q No? ©Okay. Are you any kin to the Thomasons that's

seated out there?
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A We all cousins.

Q All cousins? So, there's a lot of family in that

church, isn't there?

A It is,

Q ALl right,. It's a pretty church. Do y'all have a
cemetery in the front of it?

A We do.

Q And it looks relatively new. pid y'all move from

somewhere?

A No.
Q Okay. It's always been there and no remodeling?
A It's a 1l50-some years.

0 ALl right. And so, did you vote for him to be pastor
of the church?

A I did.

0 Ckay. Did there come a time where you wanted to see
him not be pastor of the church?

a It did.

Q What reasons did you have for not wanting him to be
pastor of the church?

A He changed.

Q How did he change?

A Because he came in being so nice and friendly, and all
the things he wanted to do for the church, and we bought

into it. But after a period of time, we got to see the
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1 real person.

2 9] Okay. And, did you attend any meetings in order to

3 terminate hin?

4 A I did.

5 6] Which meetings were that?

6 A Tt was several meetings we had. We had some at the-

7 church and we had them at the association building.

8 Q Y'all even had meetings in 2019, too¢, to terminate him
9 tceo, right, 1f you recall?

10 A I don't recall that.

11 MR, SMITH: Your witness.
12 TEE COURT: Cross®?
13 CROSS-EXAMINATION

14 BY MR. DUNCAN:

15 Q All right. Can you tell me who Jay and Omarion are?
16 A Jay and Omarion?

17 ¢] Yes, ma'amn,

18 A They are my nephews.

19 Q Are they your great nephews?

20 A Grealt nephews.

21 0 And they're 22 years old now, aren't they?

22 A I can't tell you their exact age.

23 0 Okay. And your niece was reported to DSS regarding

24 abuse and neglect of Jay and Omarion, weren't they?

25 A And that case was dismissed?
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MR. SMITH: Objection. I don't know how this is

relevant to this.

MR. DUNCAN: This going towards bias, Your
Honor, if I can pursue this.

THE COURT: Hold con.

MR. SMITH: Oh, bias?

MR, DUNCAN: All right.
BY MR, DUNCAN:
0 And Pastor Jackson is the one that reported her to
D33; correct?
A That's correct.
Q And D88 actually placed custody of Jay and Omarion
with Pastor Jackson for about four years, didn't they?
A No.
0 But they were placed in his care; right?
A Not technically.
Q Okay. All right, But you were -—-
A They were placed in my care.
Q -- okay. But you were mad at Pastor Jackson for
reporting it to DSS5, weren't you?
A I didn't have anything to do with that. My nilece,
were their guardian at the time, was dealing with

Mr. Jackson, not 1.

who

O Sure. That may be true, but you weren't happy about

that, were you?
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A No. T didn't think they belonged thexe. They should
have been with family.
Q Okay. And you even said -- this is a quote -~ "I'm
going to get your black ass,” referring to Pastor Jackson,
didn't you?
A 1 absolutely did not say that. I do not talk like
that. I don't use that language.
Q But you've been mad at Pastor Jackson since that time?
A I'm not mad at anyohe.

MR. DUNCAN: No further guestions, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. Anything else?

REDIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. SMITH:

o} You're not mad at even him, are you?
A No, I'm not mad at him. I'm a God-fearing woman. I
do not -- okay.

MR. SMITH: No further guestions, Your Honor.
THE WITNESS: All right.
THE COURT: Anything in recross?
MR. DUNCAN: No, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Ma'am, you may step down.
(The witness was sworn in.)

THE CLERK: If you have a seat and state your

name for the record when you're seated.

THE WITNESS: Mable Dawkins.
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MABLE DAWKINS

was called as a witness, and having been first duly sworn,
testified as follows:

DIRFECT ERXAMINATION
BY MR. SMITH:
Q Ms. Dawkins are you married to Reverend Larry Dawkins?
A Yes.
Q And y'all have one child?
A Now.
Q Right. And one child was murdered and this -- the
killer is being prosecuted?
A Mm-~hmm .
0 Right. Let me ask you that question. ALl right. So,
the -~ the -- how long have you been a member of Bnoree
Fork Baptist Church?
A About 4(0-~zome years.
Q And during that 40-something years, have you held
various positions, or are you just a member?
A No, I do superintendent of Sunday school now.
Q Superintendent? And you do that right now?
A Yes,
0 All right. Do you want to lose that position, ox do
you want to stay in that position?
A I could stay.

Q All right. But i1f somebody wanted to come into the
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church and help you with the position, you wouldn't have a
problem with that, would vyou?

A No.

Q Now, did you vote for Reverend Jackson to be pastor of
that church?

A Yes.

0 aAnd do you -- do you know whether or not -- and you
know your friend back there, Ms. Cynthia Robinson?

A Yes.

Q And Zelma Brown?

A Yes.

Q Have you seen them come back to your church from time
to time?

A %elma done been Lhere seven times.

0 All right. And she comes to funerals and stuff too,

doesn't she?

A Yeah, yeah. Yes, she been there,

0 Have you tried to prevent them two from coming?

A No.

Q You've never signed a trespass notice against either

one of them, have you?

A No.

Q Okay. 8o, did there come a time that you decided that
vou wanted to part company with Reverend Jackson?

A Yes, because of what he was doing to the funding.
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0 Okay. And y'all had done a preliminary investigation
and it had gone to the sherxriff's department and all that;
is Tthat correct?

A Yes.

Q And then, y'all had a meeting at the FEnoree place
because he wouldn't call the meeting?

A Right.

Q All right.

A And then a judge had ordered us to pass out things to
have a meeting, and he wouldn't let us have a meetindg. He
took and pushed the door closed in our face,

Q Okay., So, when y'all went back to the church to try
to pass oult the court order to notify the church members
about the meeting on April the 15th 2017, he pushed y'all
out of the church?

A Yeah.

0] Tell me how that happened. Tell me what happened.

A He was standing in the back with the -- I was the
usher then and we was standing in back. And me and
another usher were passing out the things, and he told us
not to pass them out, and then he just pushed the door in
our face and closed us out.

Q And then what happened? What happened after that?

A I guess he was talking inside the church. He wouldn't

let us have no meeting.
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Q Okay.
A He told us not to pass out the papers.
Q Okay. But people got word of the meeting anyway and
showed up?
A Yeah, yeah.
Q And, at that meeting, did -- was his fate discussed at
any point?
A His what?
0 His future with —-- did y'all try to place him back --
did anybody try to vote him back at Enoree Fork Baptist
Church.
A Definitely not.
Q The one at 100 Greer[sic]Road?
A No, definitely not.
Q Okay.
THE COURT: Do you mean 100 Enoree in Greer.
MR. SMITH: Yeah, Enoree Road.
THE WITNESS: Yeah, 100 Encree Road.
MR. SMITH: It's getting late. I've been up.
THE COURT: And every time you said that, you
meant 100 Enoree Road?
MR. SMITH: Enoree, yes, sir.
THE COURT: All right. We will reflect that in
the record.

MR. SMITH: ©Oh, boy. I'm going senile now.
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THE COURT: No, you're not going senile. 1
just --

MR. SMITH: I appreciate 1t.

THE COURT: -- you had me confused until I

started verifying it.

MR. SMITH: Yes, sir, I appreciate y'all for

heiping me on that.

BY MR. SMITH:

199

Q Okay. 8o, once he was —-- you signed some petitions

like that they've already talked to the other ones about?

A Yeah.
Q And which constitution were you operating undexr?
A 196,

0 All right. And, is that the constitution you're
operating under at that chuxrch right now?

A Yes.

0 Ts that the constitution y'all were operating under

when y'all decided to terminate him?
A Yes.
Q Okay.
MR. SMITH: Your witness.
THE COURT: Cross—-examination?
CROSS-EXAMINATION
BY MR. DUNCAW:

Q Talking about the constitution and bylaws, there
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there was a committee formed to draft and form the 2016
bylaws; correct?

I don't -- I don't remember --

Okay.

-~ nothing about that.

A
Q
A
0 But you don't know for sure there wasn't, then; right?
A Huh?

Q You don't know for sure there --

A I heard it spoke of, but we never discussed it or
passed any papers or anything. That's all I can tell you.
0] —- all right. And you mentioned that Pastor Jackson
shut the door in your face.

Yes, he did.

Was that on March 27th, 2017°?

Yes, whenever the judge -- yes, he definitely did it.
Is that the date?

T can't remember the date, but I know he did it.

(oRE S oI S C

So, you don't know the dates you went to the -- the
police department and tried to --

A I don't have it on record. I mean, veah.

0 —~ but you want to the police department --

A Yes, we did.

Q ~-- and you told the police that Pastor Jackson pushed
you.

A Pushed me and ancther lady out --
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0 Right.

A ~- and closed the door in our face.

Q Right. Was he arrested for that?

A I don't know. You ask him was he arrested.

Q But do you -- do you know if he was arrested?

A I don't know,

Q And -- and the -- there was sgsurveillance footage in
the -- in the front of the church, wasn't there?

A I don't know.

Q Well, if there -~ okay. And that surveillance footage

showed that he did not touch you?

A I dida't say he touch me. I said he pushed the door
shut.

Q But you told the police he pushed you. You just said
that,

A Yeah, he pushed with the door.

0] Okay. All right. But you thought it was severe
enough you had report it to the police?

A Yes, because that was very ugly him when the judge had
gave us permission te pass out the --

Q pDid you ever go to cecurt to testify against him in a
criminal case?

A No.

0] Okay. No further guestions.

THE COURT: Any redirect?
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MR, SMITH: Mo redirect, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You may step down.

THE WITNESS: Thank you.

MR. SMITH: We rest, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All righty.

MR. DUNCAN: I mean, Your Honor, I would move,
you know, I guess for a directed verdict on ~- my issues
at this point. T have -~ I have no -- well, I guess --—
I'm sorry -- I don't have anybody to call again, 1f that's

what you're looking for.
THE COURT:
MR, DUNCAN:

THE COURT!:

follow that up with motions.

but I was looking --

That's what

But then I do =--

I was looking for.

All right.

I am ¢going to

And you can go ahead and go,

MR, DUNCAN: Okay.

THE COURT: ~—- ag far as whether there was any
reply, and no.

MR. DUNCAN: Yes, I'm sorry. I was Jjumping the
gun.

THE COURT: No, no, do not apologize. I just --
okay. S0, as far as testimony, we are done?

MR. PUNCAN: Yes.

THE

the plaintiff?

COURT: Do you have any motions on behalf of
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MR. DUNCAN: Yes, Your Honor. I would move for
a directed verdict in favor of my clients, Your Honor.
There was ~- there's been no hard evidence that a meeting
aver occurred to terminate Pastor Jackson, They ~- they
talked about it, but I haven't seen one record, I haven't
seen any meeting minutes, I haven't seen any =-- any
documents that has any proof that ~-- that a meeting
happened. Everything that my client has testified to
there was records backing that up, that testimony. They
were signed, they were kept in the regular course of the
church.

There was —- there's nothing that the Defense has put
up that would indicate that there was ever a quorum
present for a meeting, that a meeting was ever properly
noticed or meeting was actually even held. Even if they
did come to meet, we don't have any proof of what happened
or if it ~-- if enough people were there to follow the
constitution or the bylaws. Regardless of which one,
there's been no evidence that either the bylaws were
followed for a vote to terminate the pastor.

There's been no evidence presented that -- that
contradicted the -- who the proper trustees were, who the
deacons were, who the ministers were, who the officers of
the church were that were presented, which is why we're

here to declare who those people were. Nobody said




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
2Q
21
22
23
24
25

204

DECLARATORY JUDGMENT HEARING

anything about those people being terminated or voted out
or anything of the like, and there's been nothing -~ no
testimony stating that there is new people in those
positions. There's actually been no -- I heaxrd no
evidence that my clients are still acting under a
constitution as the proper and legal Enoree Fork Baptist
Church.

So, I mean, again, I think there's been nothing --
nothing to contradict the evidence that was presented to
the Court on the —-- on the declaratory judgment issues,
and I would submit to the Court that there was sufficient
evidence presented on the plaintiff's case to prove those
-— to prove the elements that were needed to get a
declaratory judgment on those i1ssues. And one other'
thing, there was no =-- nothing at all about who's an
active or inactive member under either constitution.
There was nothing contradicted on that either, so I would
move for a directed verdict in our favor,

THE COURT: Okay. Response?

MR, SMITH: Yes, sir, Your Honor. We've —-- and
my brother knows he's in a difficult position in his case.
But as I state, in South Carolina, parties who have
disassociated from the original church and established a
new church generally lack standing to claim assets of the

original congregational church. This principle is
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supported by multiple cases. In Bramlett versus Young,
the South Carolina Supreme Court held that when members of
a church secede and disassociate themselves from the
original church, they are no longer considered members of
the original church corporation. As such, they lose any
rights to the property or assets of the original church.
The Court emphasized that the determination of which
faction is entitled to church property depends on which
faction represents the church as it existed prior to the
division or schism typically determined by adherence to
governing body of the denomination. Bramlett versus Young
229 South Carolina 519.

Similarly, in Harden versus Porger, 252 South
Carolina 298, the Court ruled that representatives of a
seceding congregation which is no longer part of the
original church have no legal standing to claim the
property of the original church. The Court noted that
even if some members of the seceding group were heirs of
the original grantors they did not assert rights in the
capacity and, thus, like standing. In Brock versus
Bennett, 313 South Carolina 513, the Court reiterated that
only the members of the original congregation have
standing to bring actions concerning church property.
Individuals who have left the church or disassoclated

themselves from it lose their standing to claim rights
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over the church's assets,.

Finally, in Fire Baptized Holiness Church of God
versus Greater Fuller Tabernacle Fire Baptist Holiness
Church, the Court clarified that when a church split,
property rights are determined in favor of the faction
maintaining the church organization as it previously
existed. if the entire congregation withdraws, the title
to the property remains with the original church.

Now, he wants to come back to the original church.
That's what he wants you to order. But his faction has
already created and disassociated from the original
church, so they have no property interests over there 1in
Greer at 100 Enoree Road. How is the firing of a pastor
more of a church matter that the civil courts may not
adjudicate? The firing of a preacher is considered more
of a church matter than other employment disputes that
civil courts can adjudicate using neutral principles of
law because it inherently involves ecclesiastical matters,
such as church docirine, discipline,, and governance.
Civil courts in South Carolina have established that they
will not enter into the consideration of church doctrine
or church discipline, nor will they inquire into
irregularity of the proceedings of the church
judicatories, having cognizance of such matter. This

principle is rooted in the need to avoid entanglement in
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religious matters which would be inconsistent with
conplete religious liberty and the separation of church
and state.

THE COURT: What about the Brightharp case?

MR. SMITH: The Brightharp, as I stated ecarlier,
is a case where the actual church was involved in the
lawsuit. You don't have the case in this case where the
actual church 18 involved in the lawsuit. So, even if you
order declaratory relief, Enoree Fork as an entity doesn't
have to follow the order because it's not going to be

subjected to the order. And that's why the case law in

South Carolina is the way it is., And so, i1f -~ 1if -- if
-— say if I left BMW and I was, in some kind of way -- and
BMW had done nothing -~ no, the best -- the best analogy

is with regard to a police officer.

If a police officer is sued within the scope of his
employment under the South Carolina Tort Act -- and that's
why the charitable immunity act follows it -- and you sue
that officer, the Court can dismiss that officer out of
the case because -- and you can't get a judgment against
that officer. That's the way of the South Carolina Toxt
Claims Act. That's the way the charitable immunity act
operates for charitable nonprofit organizations in this
state. The charitable nonprofit organization was not sued

in this state. ‘These folks shouldn't even be a part of
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the lawsuilt, based on the charitable immunity doctrine in
thia astate. Therefore, he has no standing.

our position is it should have been dismissed a long
time ago under 12(b{6) like Judge Jocelyn Newman did in a
similar case where the church was not sued as an entity.
So, there's going to be a conflict. If the Court decides
to rule for them, there will be a conflict in the circults
that, of course, the courts will have to regolve somewhere
down the road. But we're saying the Court doesn't have to
get to that point because there is case law that is
specific that these folks should not have been sued in the
first place, Tf he had a —— 1if he wanted to be where he
wanted to be, he needed to sue Enoree Fork Baptist Church
as an entity.

As a matter fact, by him saying that he's got an
Enoree Fork is moot. and one of the cases actually uses
the term "moot." T think Justice Toal actually says it in
one of the cases. So, he's not entitled to a directed
verdict. We are the ones who are entitled to the directed
verdict because this case should never have been brought
against people who, under -- is it Rule 13 of the Rules of
Civil Procedure? These are improper party. The party --
the main party in interest was never sued under -- undar
our law. So therefore, if the indispensable party wasn't

sued, you can't actually hold these folks accountable and
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think that they can follow a court order that doesn't bind
the church itself.

So, there's no -~ there's no way that you c¢an, in my
opinion ~-- this is just my opinion -- there’s no way you
can bind a corporation for the actions -- an eleemosynary
corporation for the actions of people who he has not
proved were acting outside the scope of their duties as
officers or as individuals who are members of the church,
and I think we're on solid case law on that, Your Honor.

THE CQURT: Any response to.that? And then T
will come back.

MR. DUNCAN: I'11l go back to what I_said at the
close of the plaintiff's evidence, that it's the same
arguments, Judge. This is a novel issue, None of the
case law is directly on-point with what's happened here
with two different factions trying to say they're Enoree
Fork. What you've seen here has proven today, 1 think,
with the evidence of the plaintiff is that they're the
ones still acting as Enoree Fork. They followed the
bylaws. We've seen no evidence from the other side about
how they're -- how they're following any bylaws and how
they're acting as the church. Just because they're still
in 100 Enoree Road in Greer, South Carolina doesn't mean
they are Enoree Fork Baptist Church, the legal entity.

That's =-- that's the -- that's the whole crux of thig case
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of why it was brought to make a determination of who the
officers were, who the pastor was, who the members were at
the time it was filed. And that's been proven without any
contravention, in my opinion, from the evidence that we've
heard today.

And, going back to the McCain versus Brightharp case,
that's the only case that's anywhere close to been
on-point because it looked at whether a vote actually
occurred to terminate the pastor. And again, I don't
think there's been any evidence presented to -- to show
that there was a proper vote held or a vote even held to
terminate him. So, if any case applies, then it's -- it's
that one and, vou know, of course in that one the judge
restated the status quo. And you know, what a judge --
what a judge did in Columbia or wherever that was, a
circuit court judge is not binding on this Court. That's
not any kind of precedential value, and I'm not sure the
facts of that case and what happened in that case anyway.
So that's not binding on thisg Court in any way, shape, or
form,

But again, the -- to their standing issue, my client
sued the people that were trying to oust him from the
church and the people that are named, not just Pastor
Jackson, but everyone that's named trying to oust them

improperiy under the church constitution and bylaws. no
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matter which one the Court decides is the proper one,
neither one were followed in any manner. No proper vote
was ever held. So, I think that gets us to you have the
authority to make a decision on the declaratory judgment
issues and make a ruling.

THE COURT: Okay. All right. Do I have a
motion from the defendants?

MR. SMITH: Yes, sir, a motion to dismiss.

THE COURT: I know some of it. I've already

heaxrd,

MR, SMITEB: Yes, sir. ©Oh, oh, I see what you're
saying.

THE COURT: No, no, ﬁo. But I know mean I —- go
ahead.

MR, SMITH: Yes, sir, our motion to dismiss this

action based on the fact that this is primarily an
ecclesiastical matter. The Court should exercise the
abstention doctrine. We move for a dirvected verdict as
well on that issue. The issue of 12 (b{6) covers the issue
of the eleemosynary corporation in this state. And the
proper parties in an eleemosynary -- eleemosynary -- in --
in a lawsuit involving the individual members of a church
cannot stand because this church is an eleemosynary
corporation organized and existing under the laws of the

State of South Carolina as a nonprofit. Tt is deemed a
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nonprofit. I+ has to be named in the lawsuit personally.
It should have been Sylvester Jackson versus Enoree Fork
Baptist Church. That should have been the caption. That
is not the caption. It's not even -- it's not even -~- the
caption is not even, like in Brightharp, Sylvester Jackson
as pastor of Enoree Fork Baptist Church against these
folké, or as a former pastor. There's none of that in
there.

So, he can't -- he can't -- he can't jump-start his
lawsuit by suing the wrong people, basically. He's got to
sue the entity, because if the Court orders -- so if the
Court says, okay, all of you folks have got to recognize
him as pastor of Enoree Baptist Church, we'll he's already
recognized. That's what he saild. He's -- he's -~ he's
got his faction somewhere. And I don't think the Court is
going to say, okay, I'm going to order you to go back into
the building at 100 Encoree Road in Greex, South Carolina.
I don't think that ~- and then, you know —-- 80 -~ 30
basically on that, where's the relief coming? If he is
sued in tort or if he is sued in some other —-- I mean,
he's an equity court, right? If he is sued in tort, then
like in some of those cases where you have defamation or
something like that, then you can use neutral principles
in a tort action like -- like =-- like judge -- Justice

Kittredge said in one of those cases. Yeah, you might get




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

213

DECLARATORY JUDGMENT HEARIXNG

there with that, you know, wrongful termination, a Law
action. He didn't file a wrongful termination law action.
He's saying he wasn't even terminated. That's what he's
saying. He's saying he's still on the job. Well, I don't
-~ really, I don't understand the lawsuit, really. They
told you, Judge, this 1is not a reinstatement. He's not
asking to be reinstated. If he was asking to be
reinstated, then maybe Brightharp could colorably be
looked at, but not against these folks. It would still
have to be against Enoree Fork Baptist Church itself.
Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Thank you.

MR. DUNCAN: Again, Your Honor, just by
saying -- if you want me to go through it again, I will,

THE COURT: No. You can just say it would be my
same argument I've already made,

MR. SMITH: Yeah,

MR, DUNCAN: It would be my same arguments I've
already made.

THEE COURT: All right. 1It's noted on the
recoxrd. T just want to make sure that you feel like you
had an adequate -- all right. Anything else?

MR, SMITH: That's it, Your Honor.

MR. DUNCAN: That's it, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Thank y'all, and I will be taking
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the South Carolina Court Tort Claims Act, they have to --
they have to sue the charitable organization itself.
That's why the defendant -- that's why the plaintiff is in
a dilemma.

He keeps considering himself the preacher of Enoree
Fork Baptist Church, so he couldn't bring it against the
proper party, but I don't understand why he brought the
lawsuit in the first place if he's still the preacher.
It's a contradiction on its face. So, we believe under
33-56-~180 it should be dismissed on that basis. As I also
said, if he's not -- if he hasn't sued the proper party,
then he lacks standing with regard to the other
individuals that got sued in this matter, because they
disassociated themselves from the main Enoree Fork Baptist
Church in Greer. At the South Carclina Supreme Court
precedent states, quite specifically, if you disassoclate
yourself from the main body of the church, all the assets
and everything that pertains stays with the original
church itself.

He decided to open up an online church with his
faction. He had, I guess, a First Amendment right to do
that. He's taken money, which demonstrates he
disassociated., They don't send the e-mails to 100 Greer
[sic]. They don't send any information over there

whatsocever. They don't send any money, they don't send
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any tithes, they don't send any offerings. They are a
completely independent organization. And he stated that
he didn't reincorporate. All he did was decided that he
was going to have what you call a registered agent. And
that registered agent, I guess, if she got a lawsult, she
would report back it back to the one over there at 100 —-
100 Greer [sic] Road where the original incorporation was
in the first place.

S0, he is running an unincorporated church, but
trying to piggyback off that and say that he is atill the
pastor -- I mean, he's already made his judicial decision
himself -- that he's still the pastor of Enoree Fork
Baptist Church. He's not trying to be reinstated, as I
understand it, and that's what T thought the basis of his
ltawsuit was. He didn't sue ~- he didn't sue for any
relief. and, okay.

<o we have lack of standlng, we have disassociation.
And then, we come to that case I passed out earlier -- 1
t+hink it was the Knotts case —- and, in that case, which
is similar to this one, they had a situation where the
constitution had bylaws that said you had to have
two—thirds. And the Court said when they had a majority
vote in there, if I'm reading it right, well, look, we're
not going to tell the congregation, which is the right way

fo run their business inside the church. Now, if you've




10
11
12
13
14
15
1o
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

111

DECLARATORY JUDGMENT HEARING

got two factions and you've got one gsplit away, of couxse
he said he left in January of 2017. Well, they had a
right teo rﬁn that church under different bylaws and under
a different constitution from then on. So he can't say —-
he can't hold that church hostage. He can't hold that
faction hostage just because he left it.

And the Coutrt sald in these cases it is the -- and
yvou know this better than I do, Judge, because you're the
judge. All you have to -- all we have to prove is that
there was a meeting, that they weren't given notice of the
meeting. And when was that meeting? It was on April 15,
2017, pursuant to court order. and that's what's similarx
to some of these cases LoO, because the Court notes in one
of them that it could undo what a judge had already
ordered because the parties had already changed position.
So, he got notice of a meeting, he went to the meeting,
but he never made any kind of attempt to remain as Enoree
Fork Baptist Church's pastor at 100 Enoree Road in Greer,
South Carolina.

What he did was, according to his testimony, they
decided they wasn't going to come back. They said
something about a cop. Well, a cop ain't the judge. A
cop couldn't keep people out of the church once the judge
said who are the active members. They didn't go back in

front of Judge Gravely and say, you know, they're trying
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to keep us out of the church, dJudge, OF they're trying to
fire me, Judge. They never did that. That case went on
for a good while, and then it was dismissed by our gide.

THE COURT: At that -- at that meeting, didn't
y'all like refuse to do a recelver?

MR. SMITH: I think ~-

THE COURT: Are you talking about the Perry

Gravely reguested meeting?

MR. SMITH: -- at first, we were trying to get a
receiver. And we were for the receiver, but I think they
were against the receiver. Because we —-— oul side wanted

a receiver, as I recall it, because I was nandling the
tawsuit back in, and we wanted a freeze on the assets, and
we got the freecze on £he assets. And then Judge Gravely
kind of like relaxed the freeze over time so that they
could handle the business. And S0 -~ SO0y I don't want to
get into the other case, put that's what we're going to
show in the other case. So, but we raised -- we ralsed
the statutory defense in the -- in our ~-- 1in our summary
judgment saying that, you know, these people are the wrong
parties to be sued.

and I think the case of Beecham versus Casey stands
for that proposition. That's a Richland County case. And
then you'fve got Honorable Jocelyn Newmar. And then you've

got Knotts, the Knotts case. And then you've got Morris
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gtreet Baptist Church versus Dart. In all those cases -~
and the Court knows this better than I do, and I won't try
to presume I know the lawa better than you, Your Honor -—-—
but the key component is that we all kind of like got a
thin line into trying to decide who ought to be an
officer, who shouldn't be an officer. That's getting into
ecclesiastical mattexs.

Now, if he 1s sued in tort for wrongful discharge,
that may be a colorable claim under neutral principles.
But he said he's still the pastor by his own admission.
So, I was thinking they were trying to say they wanted to
he reinstated. e said, no, he don't want to be
reinstated, he's still the pastor, which doesn't make much
sense to me, so why are we here for this lawsuilt?

But anyway, you know, & iot of stuff don't make sense to
me. But that's because I'm limited. But so here we go;
and I'm going to -- I'm going te -- I don't want Lo
prolong this.

The ecclesiastical abstention doctrine is involved
here, and we make a motion to dismiss on that basis. We
make a motion to dismiss on the hasis that they don't have
standing to sue individual members of the church. The
dispute over reinstatement, according to the Court, Roman
catholic Archdiocese of New York versus Sebelius 987 ~-—

I'11l get all of these to the Court and submit them, if the
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Court so desires -- seems to think that trying to put
people back in their positions and decide on who's this
and who's that in that position gets into ecclesiastical
matters. And so, there's an abstention principal there.
30 we believe that, based upon the fact -- looking at the
evidence in the light -- or lack of evidence in the light
most favorable to the nonmoving party, and that would be
Mr. Jackson and all the rest of the people ox the ones
that didan't show up and stuff who don't -- who are not
actually prosecuting because they ain't here. It's not a
class—action. Looking at the light, if they don't have
standing and it's an ecclesiastical matter, then we
request that the Court dismiss the case at this stage.

THE COURT: All right. Thank you. Any
response?

MR. DUNCAN: Yes. May it please the Court, Your
Bonor., I'11 start with what Mr. Smith said. This is a
directed verdict motion. Everything has to be viewed 1in
the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, which is
Sylvester Jackson and the parties named as plaintiffs in
this -- this case we're here today. In regard to the not
proper parties and saying have to sue the church, this 1is
the whole issue. There's an issue of who 1s actually able
to act on behalf of the church. This i1a a unigue

situation. {'m not sure of any case law that has this set
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of facts that's been on appeal. I could be wrong, but I
haven't seen it.

THE COURT: Yeah, I think you're pretty close on
that.

MR. DUNCAN: Right . So, Pastor Jackson and Ms.
Brown and Ms. Robinson have been very clear that the
church has continued under the 2016 bylaws, that Pastor
Jackson has continued to act as the pastor, and they've
continued to follow those bylaws. 90 —-- but he can't sue
saying he can't sue the church if he —- he is claiming he

is the church. And the folks he named are people that

signed letters purporting to oust him. And you've heard
about how those -- how those things went. They didn't
have aunthority under those bylaws. So, I believe -- and I

wasn't the attorney back then, so 1 wasn't privy to what
went on and why Attorney Phillips decided to do that, to
file it the way he did, but that's the way 1t was done.
And I think there's some reasoning behind that, again,
because these are the people that were acting to oust
Pastor Jackson and remove him from -- try to remove him
from the church.

So, I'm not sure that the 33-56-180 applies in this
particular case, He -- as far as the disassociation,
again, the testimony was consistent that they acted under

the constitution and bylaws and continued to act as Enoree
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Fork Baptist Church. They left the church building where
they were meeting, but They didn't stop being Enoree Fork
Baptist Church. They didn't disassociate from the church
itself. They left that building. No matter what the
police officer said ox what authority they had, to avoid
conflict, they -- they left that building. They operated
on their own. They didn't form a new church. They --
with the Secretary of State, they changed the secretary --
the -~ the registered agent in a further evidence that
they were acting as the proper church under the
constitution and bylaws.

As far as the ecclesiastical matter goes, I don't
believe the cases that were —-- were cited by Mr. Smith
apply here. The -- you look at McCain versus Brightharp.
The court in that situation determined -- had to determine
whether a vote was actually taken. There's been a lot of
evidence —- or testimony here. All we've heard today is
that there wasn't a vote to oust Pastor Jackson or these
other officers. There's been no evidence presented that
there was a vote. And, in that case, the Court —-- if I'm
recalling correctly -- relnstated all the members and the
officers to the date before the lawsult started and -- and
left from there.

90 that the Court does have authority to do that and

make that determination whether a vote was actually taken.
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And I would submit, especially if you view i1t in a light
mogt favorable to my clients, no vote was —— WwWas taken or
had. And as far as the contentions about being
reinstated, the lawsuit 1s clear, they just want to- a
declaratory judgment action saying who it is under the
law, not reinstated. They -= again, they've acted under
the constitution and bylaws, and continune to act to this
day under those things. They Jjust want the Court to make
tne determination that that is, in fact, accurate,
They're not alleging they were ever ousted from those
positions.

THE CQURT: What about that meeting and the
recelver?

MR. DUNCAN: That meeting was -- and I think the
Court can take judicial notice of that court file what
happened there -- that meeting, my understanding was that
there was a vote to approve a receivership. And then, for
whatever reagson, that never actually came to fruition and
the lawsuit was dismissed, and I believe Form 4 order says
all orders in that case have been dismissed. So I don't
think the case ls relevant -=

THE COURT: Well, they were —- all orders
were —-- this is Judge Gravely on March 15, 2018, "The
court orders that this case be dismissed without

prejudice' -- I'm not sure which case -~ ‘and all prior
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orders in this matter will be voided.”

MR. DUNCAN: Right.

THE COURT: This was Plaintiff Smith's emergency
motion to lift the freeze on the accounts, and there was a
hearing on March 15th. And the plaintiff -- and I guess

in that particular instance, the plaintiff was Mr. Smith's

client --

MR, SMITH: Yes, sir, Charles.

THE COURT: —~-~ is that right?

MR, SMITH: Yes, sir, Your Honor.

THE COURT: There's been a lot of -- a lot of
cases.

MR. SMITH: Yes, sir.

©HE COURT: There's still a lot of cases.

MR. SMITH: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: But that was on March 15th.

MR. DUNCAN: Right., And so, my position would
be that no matter what happened at that meeting, that
wasn't for ~-- he didn't have to raise the issue of whether
he was still the pastor or not. He was still acting as
the pastor. He didn't have to do that there. And, even
if he did, that's irrelevant. That order -- that case was
dismissed and anything that happened in that case is now
-- now gone., And then, new iawsuits were £iled in 2017,

and that's why we're -- we're here today. B30 1 don't
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think that's -- any of that would be any ~-—- of any
relevance to -- to --— to my client's position in 1it.

THE COURT: So say the 2016 constitution and
pylaws was not properly —- just for purposes of argument,
and you go khack to 1996. Same position?

| MR. DUNCAN: That's the same position. He still
acted as the leader of the church. He hasn't wavered in
that.

THE COURT: Vote?

MR. DUNCAN: Right. There's 1o voke ~—- 1no
evidenca of any vote happening at all under either
constitution.

THE COURT: Okay. And then, no vote. And then,
your position under Rrightharp would be, if no vote, then
it's returned to the status gquo?

MR. DUNCAN: Correct,

THE COURT: Okay. Anything else, sir?

MR. SMITH: Yes, sir, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Well, yeah, from him.

MR. SMITH: Okay.

THE COURT: T promise, Mr. Smith, I'm going to
hear from you.

MR, DUNCAN; No, Your Honor. Phat would be my
argument.

THE COURT: Okay.
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MR. SMITH: Okay.

THE COURT: Mr. Smith, do you have anything in
response?

MR. SMITH: Yes, sir. First of all, the Court
can't come back at the status qguo.

THE COURT: And why not?

MR. SMITH: Because if you order them, it can't
be enforaced, bhased on case law, If you issue an order
against these individuals, it's not enforceable against
Enoree Fork Baptist Church itself., That's the whole
point. That's why -- that's what the case law says. It's
not something I'm making up. Under South Carolina law, "A
declaratory action requires a justiciable controversy
defined as a real and substantial dispute appropriate for
judicial determination.” This dispute does nol meet that
standard, according to Sunset Cay versus City of Folly
Beach. "Phe civil courts may resolve disputes involving
civil, contract or property rights, but cannot adjudicate
ecclesiaastical matters. The courts must defer to the
decisiona of the highest religious judicatories on issues
of religious law, doctrine or governance."

That Knotts case is directly on-point here., And when
a church -- and the key is, when he left in January, they
had a right to govern themselves under whatever

constitution they want, and he doesn't know whether or not
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they complied with the constitution or not because he
wasn't present. He doesn't have personal knowledge of
that. He's just making an argument. And the property
rights, "When a chuxch splits, courts determine property
rights in favor of the faction, maintaining the chuxch
organization as it previously existed." And that's
Dillard versus Jackson, 304 south Carclina 79, and Fire
Baptist Holiness Church of God versus Greater Fuller
Tabernacle Fire, 323 South Carolina 418, "Title to the
church property does not follow a withdrawing faction."

Now, lack of standing, the pastor's faction lacks
standing to bring a declaratory judgment action because
there is no justiciable controversy, as I said. The
faction abandoned its own financial responsibilities and
split from the original churxch, undermining any claims to
the rights or status within the church. And the fact that
they did not -- they violated thelr own constitution by
not sending any money to the original church. So if they
—— their -~ their constitution says if you're not
financial with so many months, well if you're inactive,
they're going to consilder you inactive.

so, every one of the folks f£hat went into that
faction became inactive on their own under their own
steam, because they had a right to come back to that

church after that meeting that Judge Gravely had ordered
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on 4/15/2017. And the claims for reinstatement as
officers involve ecclesilastical questions of church
governance and discipline, which are beyond the
jurisdiction of civil courts. The courts must defer to
the original chﬁrch's internal governance and decisions,
as required by ecclesiastical abstention.

So, 1f the Cecurt wants ~-- see, the courts —-- T think
what the Supreme Court of the United States and your gourt
and my court and everybody else's court doesn't want us
sitting inside a congregation making a decision as to who
ought to be the officers and who ought to be the pastor.
And he ain't asking for no money. He ain't sued the
church. These folks can't come in and put him back in,
Even if the Court orders it, they can't,. If they decided
to leave the church and go to ancther church, that order
cannot be enforced because the proper party in this case
is Enoree Fork Baptist Church itself.

THE COURT: What about the Brightharp case?

MR. SMITH: The Brightharp case is
distinguishable because, in that case -- isn't it in Lthat
case the church was actually sued? Aren't they the proper
party? 1 don't have it in front of me. Here it is.
Let's see who the -- let's see,

THE COURT: It was McCain versus -—-

MR. SMITH: Yeah.
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THE COURT: -~ Brightharp.

MR. SMITH: Right. And it says that -- okay.
And if you look, it's got up there McCain, Joseph Curry,
individually as trustees of Mount Canaan Baptist Church.
That church is named in there. The church is named right
up there. I brought a copy of it. S0 if the church is
named, I think, well, you know, Brightharp is

distinguishable, and it's distinguishable because the

proper party was named. In this case, it's totally
different. Ain't no proper party here, And I -- I -~

I -—— I -— I researched this thing because 1 was, l1ike, how
do you enforce it? How can you == and that's
(unintelligible) there. How can vou enforce it? You
xnow, would be like if I sued -- if I sued under the tort
claims act. 1If I sued a police officer under the tort

claims act and I didn't sue, saYy., the city, that can't be
enforced because the Court 1s going to dismiss that

because, under the tort claims act, you've got to actually

" pame the police agency. And that's why, in the charitable

organization law, you've got to name the charitable
organization if you're going to sue them. You can't name
the people who are members of it. He already said they
ain't officers. He didn't sue rhem. He sued them because
they were members. S0, that don't make logical sense

either.
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So, okay. Now, once I get to that point, onée I get
to it and T show a lack of standing, and once I show the
fact that it was ecclesiastical matters and he's gone --
he don't know how they're operating when he's gone -- and
he wanted to go. 80 (unintelligible) the things after he
left. The Court can't come back and second-guess the
people now because he voluntarily left, and the people who
was with him voluntariiy left. They already testified to
that. So, here we are in a dilemma, and we're making a
motion to dismiss at this stage. Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Anything in response?

MR. DUNCAN: Yes, Your Honor. I mean, Mr. Smith
i3 conflating acting as the church with being in the
physical church puilding that was 100 Enoree Road. Those
are completely distinguishable. Just because, vou know, a
faction left that bullding does not mean they don't still
operate as the proper and true Enoree Fork Baptist Church,
which is the whole purpose of this lawsuit. And actually,
you know, on the McCain versus Brightharp issue as far as
naming the actual -~ the church, again, there's no case
law on-point in this particularxr situation where a faction
tries to oust another part of the church. Again, that's a
novel issue, as far as 1 know.

And you heard Pastor Jackson testify that this was

brought on behalf -- you know, they're named individually,
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but he said they brought it on behalf of the officers and
the ministers and those things, and { believe the
allegations in the complaint weunld - would bear that out.
So I think that -- that points to -- I think McCain versus
Brightharp 18 exactly the closest thing we have on-point
to the facts in this case and should still be, you know,
the precedent this Court should follow.

PHE COURT: Okay. Anything else, Counsel?

MR. SMITH: Nothing further.

THE COURT: Okay. I'm going to deny your
directed verdict motion, and then we will move on to your
case,

MR. SMITH: Thank you, Your Honor. At this
time, we call --

THE COURT: You are definitely protected on the
record.

MR. SMITH: -- I appreciate it, Judge. I got my
thumbs up. Come on up; Reverend, and let's call you
first, Assoclate Pastor Larry Dawkins.

{The witness was sworn in.)

THE CLERK: Have a seat here, and state your
name for the record once you get seated.

THE COURT: Mr. Preston, would you get this kind
man some water?

THE BAILIFF: I will.
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THE COURT: You're all right?

PHE WITNESS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Okay. I just want to take care of

my witnesses.

THE WITNESS: Larry Dawkins.

LARRY DAWKINS

was called as a witness, and having been first duly sworn,

testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. SMITH:

(TN o B o B - & - o]

And, where do you live?
Simpsonville,

Are you married?

Yes, sir,

Who you married to?

Mable Sullivan Dawkins.

And she's in the courtroom right
Yes, =sir.

How many children you got?

‘One now.

Yes, sir, I understand. And how

Enoree Fork Baptist Church?

A

is buried out there.

O

here?

are youw related to

Well, my parents 1ls buried out there. My grandparents

All right. And what pesition do

I don't know how further back it go.

you hold with Enoree
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Fork Baptist Church?

A T am now the associate minister. Well, actually, 1'm
the active pastor until we get Reverend --

Q Another pastor?

A -~ yeah, yeah.

Q All right. Have y'all had several pastors since
Reverend Jackson left?

A We have.

Q Okay. Do you recall their names? 1f you can't,
that's fine?

A Yeah, 1 won't even try to go through it.

Q So now -— So how many years Yyou think you've been a
member of Enoree Fore Baptist Church?

A A1l my 1ife.

Q All your life? DNow, on oOr about August of 2015, y'all

all agreed to hire Reverend Jackson as your pastor?

We did.

Okay. What did y'all see in him at the time?
Well, there had to be a reason. T deon't know.
Okay. Did you vote for him?

Because 1it's personal.
Yeah, you voted for him?

I did.

Fo T B o T -- T o B ST o

All right. And, in August '15, there came a time

where you wanted to part company with him?
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A Well -- well, I based my decision on hearsay. I
believed what I heard.

Q Okay. So anyway, let me just see how we can —-- did
you vote on any occasion to terminate his contract?

P2 I did.

Q Okay. What constitution were you operating on —-
under at the time you terminated his contract?

A The '96 constitution, '96.

Q Okay. Was there a time when -- when they passed out a
2016 contract in January ¢f -- or so?

A Not to my knowledge.

Q Were you ever given a copy?
A No, sir.
Q Were you able to discuss the terms and condition of

that constitution?

Fiy No, sir.

0 Okay. To youxr knowledge, was Reverend Jackson an
at-will employee?

A What you mean?

Q vou could fire him anytime you want to for reason or
no reason?

A I really wasn'lt sure.

0 Okay. That would be a legal guestion?

y:\ More than likely.
Q

All right. ©Now, let me ask you this. But ytall
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didn't have any written contracts for pastors; right?

A Not to my knowledge.

Ko} Right. So, let me ask you this. And there was a

lawsuit filed by Charles S§ims; correct?
Y Charles Sims? Charles Smith.
Q Charles Smith. I get it all twisted. All right. So
Charles Smith filed a lawsuit, and y'all had a -- y'all
asked the Court for a receiver and for a freezing of the
funds, is that correct, at that church?
A Yes, sir.
Q All right. And then, Judge Gravely ordered that a
meeting be held on the 15th of -

MR, DUNCAN: Objection, Your Honor. T mean,
this is --

MR. SMTTH: Well, it's --

MR. DUNCAN: ~—~ T mean, this is going into the

previous case that --

MR. SMITH: =-- no, I was just asking about the
meeting ~~- excuse me.

MR, DUNCAN: -~ I mean, I guess if he's got
knowledge, I guess he could do that. But it's -- you

know.
THE COURT: As long as it's not leading.
MR. DUNCAN: Thank you, Your Honor.

BY MR. SMITH:
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0 Okay. So, was there a meeting?

order a meeting, to your knowledge?
A Yes,

Q And was the meeting held?

A At the Enoree Center.

@] When, what date? The Court can
of it.

A I'm not sure.

Q Okay.

A But anyway, we had a meeting at

Association.
Q All right.

Okavy. I'm golng to

marked as Plaintiffs?! ExhibitNo. 5.
into evidence.
Yes, sir.

What does that letter say?

R o H S o T

Okay.

130

Did Judge Gravely

take judicial notice

the Enoree

show you what has been

It has been offered

Is that your signature down here?

Do you want me to read the whole thing?
You can read the pertinent parts about -~

"The purpose of this letter is to notify you

that your tenure as pastor at Enoree Fork Baptist Church

has been terminated,

effective immediately,

due to your

total disregard of church constitution and bylaws, the

fact that you have improperly terminated members from the

church, placed no-trespass orderxs against several members

as well,

and the fact that you are in default with the
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current lawsuit against you for misappropriation of church
funds."

Q All right. So, at the time that you wrote the letter,
it was your position along -- it was your position with
the people who actually signed the letter that he was in
violation of the constitution himself; is that correct?
Well, since he left and all that --

Just answer that question.

-~ yas, sir.

All right. ©Now, explain.

PoCc =2 o0 P

Well, since he left and all the other assoclates left
with him, ¥ was about the only minister left in the
church, so I guess they put me in that position to do
that.

Q Okay. How did he violate the terms and conditions of
the constitution?

A Well, he -- to be honest, we never had a meeting. He

wouldn't allow us to have a meeting, so we didn't discuss

nothing.

Q Okay. So ‘let's parse that out.

A Okay.

Q Wwho is "he" wouldn't allow a meeting?

A Reverend Jackson.

0 Okay. He wouldn't allow you to have a meeting?
A No, sir.
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0 And what was his reasons for preventing you fron
having a meeting?

A I'm not ~- well, 1'l11l let somebody else get into that
hecause it would be hearsay coming from me.

Q Okay. So you don't know of your own personal
knowledge?

A Not personal.

Q All right. But you state in here the church has not
had an official church meeting to remove any church leader
from their post since you were hired as pastor; is that
correct?

A That's c¢orrect,

0 Then you signed a no-trespass notice. Is that your

signature on that document?

A Yes, 1t is.

Q Against Reverend Jackson; is that correct?

A Yes, sir.

Q pid you sign one against a Ms. Robinson or Ms. Zelma
Brown?

A We only had one, and that's this one.

0 Okay. Why did you deem it necessary to put a trespass
notice on Reverend Jackson?

A Well, if -- do I need to go into it?

Q Well, I'm just asking a guestion.

A Well, misappropriation of funds.
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G Okay. That's a different lawsuit, okay, but thank

you.

A Qkay.

Q But that was one of the reasons?

A it was.

Q Why was the doors on the church locked? pbid he ever

lock the doors
A I think he
beat him to 1t.
Q Okay. And
didn't tell --
of the members

back to Enoree

on y'all?

was on his way to lock the door, but we

then what happened? Y'all didn't -- y'all
did y*all -- let me -~ did y'all tell any
who left with him that they couldn't come

Fork Baptist Church?

A The doors were locked before all of that happened.

The doors were

not locked when before that happened. They

was welceome back at any time.

) Okay.
A Everybody except Reverend Jackson.
0 I'm going to show you what has been marked as

Plaintiffs' ExhibitNo. 11. What is No. 117

A You want me to read it?

Q0 Yeah.

A "This letter is to notify you that the --

Q What date is 1it? What's the date on the letter?
A The date?
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Yes, sir.
April the 10th, 2017.

Okavy.

A o T I o

"This letter is to notify you that the chairperson of
Enoree Fork Baptist church deacon hoard held a special
meeting Sunday, April 9th, to inform you the church body
of their decision to terminate you as pastor, effective
April the 3rd, 2017. Please note that in this special
meeting of the church body, the Enoree Fork Baptist Church
family unanimously voted to approve and confirm the deacon
board chairperson's decision to terminate you as pastor of

Enoree Fork Baptist Church.™"

Q Okay.
A And it was all based on misappropriation of funds.
Q Now, did —-- can you tell us whether or not y'all gave

Reverend Jackson or Ms. Robinson the authority to change
the -~ the -- the person on the -- the registered agent on
the articles of incorporation?

A No, sir. I don't think they did. I'm not sure,

though.
Q pid you ever have a vote over it at Enoree TFork 1007
A No, we never did.

¢ Have they ever provided y'all with any funds of
whatever nature?

A Not to my knowledge.
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Q Have they ever paid off the bills and mortgages of
Enoree fork 100 where y'all are located?

A We did that. No, sir, they didn't.

When you say "we," you're talking about your --
Those of us that was left.

-- and all y'all about debt free now?

I'm not sure where we stand.

Okay. That's not -- that's above your pay grade?

Yes, sir. I let them handle the money.

oRE S oI * A

So, to your knowledge, did Judge Gravely make
everybody a member of the church at some point?

A Well, according te¢ him, everybody was.

Q Okay. And y'all had the meeting because of that; is

that correct?

A Yes.

Q Was it -- Reverend, to your knowledge -~ Reverend
Jackson, to your knowledge, now —-- do you -- nevermind.
We already asked him that. Answer any questions of that
guy.

THE COURT: Cross-examination?
MR, DUNCAN: Yas, Your Honor.
CROSS-EXAMINATION
BY MR. DUNCAN:
0] And, Mr. Dawkins, I'm going to ask you about the -~

the letter dated April the 10th. I believe that's number
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1 —_ plaintiffs’ Exhibit 11. Do you have that in front of
2 you?

3 A I don't.

4 Q Do you have the April 10th, 2017, lettexr now?

5 A April 10th? I do.

6 Q Okay. Ail right. All right. And it says in -- in
7 here that -- that -- that the church -- somebody voted to
8 have -~ to accept the decision of the board of deacons to

9 terminate Pastor Jackson; is that right?
10 A That's right,
11 Q All right. But you didn't give Pastor Jackson notice
12 of any meeting that you nad; right?
13 A I didn't.
14 Q All right. And, to your knowledge, nobody gave Pastor
15 Jackson any notice of that meeting?
16 A T have no idea to that.
17 0 All right. And nobody gave 7¢1ma Brown notice of that
18 meeting, did they?
18 A I don't know.
20 0 AlLl right. And nobody gave cynthia Robinson notice of
21 that meeting?
22 A T have no ildea.
23 Q A1l right. And you don't know how many people were
24 there that day, do you?

25 A At the meeting?
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Q Yes.
A Which meeting are we talking about?
0 The meeting that you're referencing in your April 10th

letter that vou signed.

A I don't know how many people was there.

Q Okay. All right. And you don't —-- y'all didn't
follow either the '96 or the 2016 constitution and bylaws
related to the termination of Pastor Jackson, did you?

A T don't know if I need to answer that because it
probably —-- you probably won't want to heay my answer.

Q I asked you the question and --

A Okay.
Q ~— it's a yes or no, you did or you didn't?
A Because of what Reverend Jackson had done to the

church, we should have put him out of there long before
that.

Q That may very well be true, put I'm not arguing that
point. We're not -- that's not what we're here about
today. We're herée about whether you followed tLhe -- the
church bylaws and constitution in purporting to terminate
Pastor Jackson. And my guestion to you is, y'all did not
follow either the 2016 or the '96 bylaws in that action;
correct?

A I'm not sure,

Q All right.
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B Recause I don't know if it's in the bylaws.

Q All right. And you testified that the only person
that -- that the church -- whoever's purporting to be the
church ousted wag Pastor Jackson; right?

A As far as I know.

Q All right. ALl right. So, but you —- isn't it true
that you signed the trespass notice preventing cynthia
Robinson from coming back to the church, to the chuzrch
lacation?

A I don't remember signing that.

Q all right. If I showed you & document that's

titled -—-=
A . I would like to see it.
Q ~- all right.

THE COURT: Is this an exhibit, oxr are you
getting ready to make it ons?

MR. DUNCAN: Tt's an exhibit, yes.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR, DUNCAN: I don't know what pumber we're up
to now for plaintiffs.

THE COURT: I think we're probably on No. 12 for
plaintiffs.

MR. DUNCAN: And I only have one copy, Your
Honor. I'm sSorry.

/7
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8Y MR, DUNCAN:
Q All right. Mr. Dawkins, I'm showing you what's been
marked as Plaintiffs' Exhibit 12. Can you tell the Court
what that 1is?
A vphis letter is to notify you that you are hereby
placed on trespass notice at any and all properties which
are owned located at Enoree Fork Baptist Church.™
0 All right. And is that dated 4/3/172 1t would be
somewhere near the Top.
A Ts this where he -- I'm thinking this is the letter
where he gave me a no-trespass notice against the chuxrch.
Q Does it say Cynthia Robinson 1is trespassed from coming
to 100 Enoree Road?
A "Name of person on notice of no trespass.”
Q And it says Cynthia Robinson; correct?
A It do.
0 And it's dated 4/3/2017; correct?
A It is.
Q and you signed it at the bottom, the first signature;
correct?
A No, I signed it second.
Q Okay. But you signed 1it?
A 1 did.

MR. DUNCAN: ['11 move to introduce Plaintiffs’

Exhibit 12,




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

140

DECLARATORY JUDGMENT HEARING

MR
THRE

evidence.

THE

MR,

(Plaintiffs’ Exhibit 12 was moved
for admission into evidence.)
SMITH: No objection.

COURT: Without objection, No. 12 comes into

(Plaintiffs' Exhibit 12 was
admitted into evidence.)
WITNESS: This i1s the same day we...

DUNCAN: Just one second, Your Honor.

That's all the guestions I have, Your Honor.

THE
MR.
THE
THE
MR,

point.

THE

COURT: Okay. Any redirect?

SMITH: Nothing, Your Honor.

COURT: Okay. Pastor, you can step down.
WITNESS: Thank you, sir,

SMITH: We call Mr. Jimmy Davis at this

(The witness was sworn in.)}

CLERK: If you'll have a seat, and Jjust

state your name for the record once you get seated.

THE

THRE
okay?

THE

THE

THE

WITNESS: My name is Jimmy Davis.

COURT: Do you want some water, or are you

WITNRSS: I'm okay.
COURT: All right.

WITNESS: May I correct one statement?




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

141

DECLARATORY JUDGMENT HEARING

MR. SMITH: No, you can't.
THE COURT: No, you may not, s1r.
JIMMY DAVIS
was called as a witness, and having been first duly sworn,
testified as foliows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR, SMITH:
All right. Would you state your name?
Jimmy Davis.
Where do you live, Mr. havis?
103 Hammetts Glen Way in Greex, South Carolina.
Are you married?
Yes.
How long have you heen married?
About 13 years.
What's your wife's name?
Verna Brockman Davis.

What did you do as a profession?

TR e S T o S B e R © B e b o

T was a fire marshal. I retired at 35 years, then I
went to with the city police department as a compliance
specialist for the City of Greenville.

Q All right. And, are you a member of Enoxree Fork
Baptist Church?

A Yes.

Q How long have you been a member?
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A Since 2009.

0 A1l right. And, since 2009. So that means Yyou ware
there when Reverend Jackson was hired as a pastor?

A That's correct.

Q And so, the -- that was -~ do you know exactly when
that happened, what year?

A I think it was 2015.

Q All right. Iin 2015, and when was he finally
terminated?

A T would say it was about -- it been maybe
(unintelligible} . I can't think back, 1it's bean so long.
1 know he was terminated.

Q Okay. Excuse me. Okay. Sorry you couldn't hear me.
So, let me ask this question. Through the years, have

ytall had several votes to terminate Reverend Jackson?

A That's correct.

Q Tn order to reaffirm the -- what y'all ¢id in -- in
20167

A That's correct.

0 And, did you follow the constitution that y'all
decided to do and terms and conditions in 2019 when y'all

reconfirmed the firing of him?

A That's correct.
Q Was Reverend Jackson present?
A He wasn't.




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

143

DECLARATORY JUDGMENT HEARING

Q All right. Were any of the others in his factlion
present?

A No, bLthey wasn't.

0 So when -- the way the Baptist Church ~- how does it
operate in giving notice to people about church meetings?
A Tt's two weeks ahead of time.

Q All right. And, do you do it from the pulpit, or do
you send out e-mails, or do you send out written notices?
A We do it in the congregation of the church, the body
of the church.

o) Okay. And how -- when you do in the body of the
church, how does that operate?

A We ask for a meeting. And we did ask for the meeting,
and the pastor denied us to have a meeting.

Q Okay. You're talking about Reverend Jackson. I'm not
talking about that now. I'm asking you generally about
how it operates that you notify people about the meetings.
A ' Oh. We notify people about the meetings by calling a
meeting of the body of the church.

Q Okay., Is that done by telephone, cell phone? 1Is it
done by e-mail, is it somebody stands in front of the
pulpit and say we're going to have this meeting?

A It's done in the church in the front of the pulpit,

Q Okay. 1Is it done during service or after service?

A During service.
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Q okay. And the people who actually attend the service
are the ones who actually get the notice?
A That's correct.
0 All right. And that's how y'all give notice, and if
you're not there, you don't get notice?
A That's correct.
Q Now, when Reverend Jackson disassociated himself from
Enoree Fork Baptist Church where y'all placed him on
trespass notilce, he wouldn't have gotten a notice at that
point; is that correct?
A That's correct.
Q But he got the notice from Judge Gravely, didn't he?
A That's correct.

MR. S8SMITH: Excuse me, Your Honor. Okay.
BY MR. SMITH:
0 Okay. 8o, when y'all went to the meeting on April 15,
2017, what transpired at that meeting? Let me ask this.
Who was present at that meeting, 1f you can recall?
A Which meeting is that?
Q The one that Judge Gravely ordered.
A I think, if I'm not mistaken, everybody was there.
0 okay. When you say "everybody," are you talking about
all the members?
A All the members.

Q Reverend Jackson was there?
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A Yes.

Q All right. And, was there a moderator there?

A Yes.

Q Okay. Was anything decided with regard to Reverend

Jackson's fate at that meeting?

A Well, I can't recall. All I was told -- 1 was there,
and they said that we all go back to the original church
where it all started. And we all did go back ourself for
his side.

Q T undersgtand. That's not my guestion. My gquestion
was, was there any motions to reinstate him as pastor at

Enoree Fork Baptist Church?

A Na.

Q Did anybody from his side of the faction make a
motion?

A No.

Q Okay. Did his -- okay. No further gquestions. Answer

any questions -—
THE COURT: All right. Cross—-examination,
Counsel,
CROSS-EXAMINATION
BY MR, DUNCAN:
Q All right. Mr. Davis, isn't it true you resigned from
the trustee board while Pastor Jackson was still there;

correct?
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A No, I didn't resign.

Q And, isn't it true that you also -- you threatened a
trustee, Ernest Murray, with physical violence, didn't
you?

A No, I didn't.

Q All right. And you talked about Pastor Jackson not
allowing a meeting to happen. But that's because your
attorney sent a letter to Mr. Jackson saying that there
shouldn't be any meetings until -- until the lawsuit was
resolved; isn't that correct?

A T don't think that that's what happened. I think what
happened is Jackson said that there would not be a meeting
in this church because he knows the condition that he was
in, and he was trying to hold everything in the process to
protect hisself.

Q But you still testified that you had a meeting,

though; right?

A Yeah, we had a meeting. He -- he -- let me tell you
this. He wouldn't allow us to have a meeting, so we went
to the moderator and we had -- he -— we had a meeting
there.

Q Okay.

A Then we were told to go back and have a whole-body

church meeting, and his people did not show at that time.

We did have the meeting too.
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0 That's because you didn't give propex notice; right?
A If you don't show, how are you supposed to give —-- I
don't have peoples' phone number.

0 And you don't know how many people were at this
purported meeting, do you?

A I say it was around 42 or 43. I counted then.

Q vou counted them?

A And they were mostly our people.

0 Okay. What meeting are you talking about, Jjust so
we're on the —-

A Let me say this. We had -- we had a meeting. Thexre
was no one on Jackson's side present at any meeting. I
was told by one of his people that he told them do not
show up.

MR. DUNCAN: Objection, Your Honor.

THE WITNESS: That's the truth.

THE COURT: Answer the question.

MR. DUNCAN: It was hearsay, is what I was —- he
testified to something that he heard somebody say
something, so I'm objeecting on hearsay grounds .

THE COURT: Okay. I will strike that. It's isg
the hearsay statement.

MR. DUNCAN: Thank you.

BY MR, DUNCAN:

0 But even 1if you purported to have a meeting, you
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didn't follow the church bylaws, did you?
A T always follow the church bylaws.
Q okay. So tell ne how yon followed the bylaws for this
——~ this meeting that you purported you had to terminate
pastor Jackson?
A The hylaws say the -- the trustee and the deacon got
together, and we made a decision, and we brought it to the
hody of the church for a vote, and they'll agreed upon it.
0 Right. But you didn't -- you don't know how many
peocple were there that day for that meeting, do you?
A I think it -- I mean, W& probably had around 25 or 30,
pecause that was the only one we had. our church doesn't
but about 30 (unintelligible) as a split.
Q Right. And you don't know for sure who were active or
inactive members there that day, do you?
A We were all active.

MR. DUNCAN: That's all I have, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Counsel?

MR. SMITH: No redirect, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You may step down.

THE WITNESS: Thank you.

MR. SMITH: We'll call L.C. Thomason.

(The witness was sSworn in.)

THE WITNESS: L.C. Thomason.

//




11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

149

DRECLARATORY JUDGMENT HEARING

L. C. THOMASON
was called as a witness, and having been first duly sworn,

testified as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION

0 All right. Mr. Thomason, are you married?

b=

Yes.

Who are you married to?
Cynthia Thomason.

Where do you live?
Mauldin.

Mauldin?

Yes.

And, how old are you now?

73.

oI o - o B -

737 And you're a member of Enoree Fork Baptist
Church?

Yes.

How long have you been a member?

All my life.

All your lifev?

Yes,

And what kind of job did you do? Are you retired?
I s3till work some.

What you do in terms of a profession?

- o B o I e B R

Mechanic work, diesel mechanic.
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Q Diesel mechanic?
A Yas, sir.
6] and so, you were one of the persons -— You were one

the persons to vote to hire Reverend Jackson; is that

correct?

A Yeah.

0 And that was somewhere around August 20157

A Yeah, whenever that date was. Yes.

Q Do you recall whether or not there any meetings to

formulate a new constitution?

A To formulate a new -~ i remember he brought in
somebody to change the constitution.

Q He brought and he said he was going t+o change the
constitution?

B Right.

Q Well, what happened?

A Well, we don't keep up on the same the constitution.

We didn't change 1it.

0 You didn't change it?

No.

Okay. And, how do you know that?
Well, I just knew about it.

A1l right.

it didn't happen.

ol TR © T =

of

Were you given a copy of a proposed new constitution?




i0
11
12
13
14
15
le
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

151

DECLARATORY JUDGMENT HEARING

A Yeah, I seen a Copy of it.

o) vYou saw a copy of 1t? pid you ever discuss it?

A I think --

Q She can't pick up a nod. vYou've got to speak into it.

They can't plck up a nod.

A All right.

Q pid you ever discuss it in a business meeting?

A I can't remember --

Q 21l right.

A ~- discussing 1it.

o) and, who's your sister?

A Clarissa —-

Q Okay.

A ~——- Thomason —-

Q And what role --

A -- or Robhinson.

Q And what role does she play in the church?

A ghe's a secretary nNow, T believe, treasurer—-secretary.
Q All right. Did there come a time when you decided
that you were going to cut ties with Reverend Jackson?
A Yes.

0 And what were your reasons for wanting to cut ties

with him?
A Racause he stole the funds from the c¢hurch.

Q and then, did y'all to try to have a meeting as a
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result of y'all's interest in that?

A Yes.

Q And did y'all present that to Reverend Jackson?

A Yes, he knew about it. Yes.

0 Okay. Did you ever ask him to -- to -- to —-- to meet
on the 1issue?

A T'm sure he was told, yeah.

Q Okay. T'm not -—- I am not asking for speculation.
T'm asking, do you know of your own knowledge whether or
not a meeting was requested of Reverend Jackson prior to
any lawsuits?

: There was a meeting. Was he told there was goeing to
pe a meeting, is that what you're asking me? Ask me tThe
gquestion again.

Q Okay. All right. pid y'all want to discuss with
Reverend Jackson whatever concerns y'all had about the
finances of the church at any point?

A I'm going to say ves to that.

Q Okay. pid y'all ever ask Reverend Jackson to --= to
call a meeting so y'all could discuss the matter with him?
A He wouldn't c¢all the nmeeting.

] I understand. But my question is, did yow ever give
him the opportunity?

A T'm sure, yeah, he had the opportunity.

Q Well, okay. Did you —- yeah, did you ever --
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{(Unintelligible cross—talk.)
BY MR. SMITH:
Q -- yourself?
A Personally, I didn't. Wo.
Q Okay. Did you have discussions with any of the
deacons about the matter who is part of this lawsuit?
A Did T have a meeting with the deacons?
Q No. Did you have any discussions with members who had

been sued in this case about asking for a meeting with the

pastor?
A Yes.
Q All right, And what -- and, let me ask -- let me see
-~ see -- okay. You signed a letter to Reverend Jackson

on April the 3rd, 2017. Do you remember that?

A Yes,

Q Why did you sign that letter?

A Because of the funds that he took from the church --
Q All right.

A —— in order to get rid of him. Yes, that's why.

4] Okay. Now, at first, 1 think my brother ovex here, my
brother seated over there, he showed some of the witnesses
these petitions; is that correct? Do you know about these
petitions where people signed?

A 7 think I do.

Q Okay. If you can't remember —-
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A I can't remember.

Q ~— all right. I'll show you. Maybe this will refresh
youk recollection. You've got to talk loud enough?

A Okay. All xright. Okay. Yes.

Q What was -—-

A Yes.

Q ——- what was the purpose of that petltion?

A To get rid of Reverend Jackson.

0 What is this at the top?

A "Reascons to suspect the pastor. We, the members of

Enoree Fork Baptist Church, authorize the treasurer of the
institution to put the lawsuit together, the financial
records of Enoree Fork Baptist Church for purpose of the’
(unintelligible) '‘dencmination and investigation and the
individual organization that we anthorize Attorney
Fletcher Sﬁith to represent the church in this matter."
80, did this to get rid of Jackson.

Q And now, that was plaintiffs' ExhibitNo. 6. In
plaintiffs' ExhibitNo. 5, what does it say?

A "We, the members of Enoree Fork Baptist Church,
request Reverend Sylvester Jackson to be suspended from
the position of pastor of BEnoree Fork without pay infinity
due to the pending lawsuit that has been filed against
him. The action 13 necessary to ensure that it is

confirmed that the interest while a full investigation is
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ongoing and complainant with the lawsuit."

Q All right. So, basically, y'all didn't outright fire
reverend Jackson, is that correct, y'all guspended him?

A Suspended him.

4 All right. Because y'all had concerns about finances
of the church; is that correct?

A Correct.

Q So, what position did you hold in the church at that

time?

A I was a Lrustee.

Q Okavy. Are you a trustee now?
A Yes.

Q All right. How long have you been a trustee, 1f you
can recall?

A T was a trustee before Jackson came, and I'm still a
trustee.

Q All right. Did there come a time when he tried to
keep you from being a trustee?

A No, he didn't try to. No.

Q Which constitution did you operate under from the
time --
A Well, the one that we -—- Wwe had before he came.

That's the one we operated under.
Q -~ okay. And was there anything in the -- in the

minutes that said y'all rescinded that constitution?
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Which one?

A
0 T"he first constitution.
A No, we didn*t. No.
0 90 that constitution was never rescinded; 1is that
correct?
A Correct.
0 and there was nothing in the minutes that said y'all
were all going to rescind that constitution; is that
correct?
A Not that I know of. That's correct, yeah.

MR, SMITH: Your witness.

THE COURT: Cross-—exarination?

MR. DONCAN: All right.

CROSS-BXAMINATION

BY MR. DUNCAN:
¢] Mr., Thomason, isn't it true that you resigned as a
trustee before Pastor Jackson became a pastor?
A No, that's not true.
0 So, it's not true that you -- ¥you resigned and told
pastor Jackson you didn't want to serve anymore because
you were traveling a lot with your trucking business?
A That's not true. I don't travel with my trucking
business. No way.
Q That you were busy with your trucking business?

A That's not true.
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vou didn't tell him that?

A No.

Q All right. And you testified about those petitions.
You saw those; right?

A Yes.

Q All right. There's nothing in either constitution
that allows any kind of action by the chuxch by a
petition, is there?

A T don't understand what you're saying.

Q vYou know -- you said you're operating under £he 199¢
bylaws; right? |

A Right.

Q Is there any provision in the 1996 bylaws that says
that you can suspend the pastor by a petition of the
church of the members?

A Well, there could be. I -- I -- I got to look at it
again now.

Q But you don't know there's anything in there; right?
A T would say there probably is.

Q Okay. Well, I'm showing you plaintiffs' Exhibitl.
"his is the 1996 bylaws. Look through there and show me
where it says a petition can suspend the pastor.

A Tt (unintelligible) says probably not in nhere, but --
pecause I hadn't read all of this, and I can't remember,

Q Okavy.
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A I'm noet sure --—

MR. DUNCAN: I have no further gquestions.

THE WITNESS: -- if it's in here or not .

THE COURT: You can take your time.
BY MR. DUNCAN:
Q Yeah, if you want to look through it, go ahead.
A Let me sec.
Q Was it your tegtimony you don't think it's in there,
or you still wanting to look? I Just want to clarify.

THE COURT: I believe it's at the top.

THE WITNESS: I would say it's in here, but I
I don't -- I don't know. I really don't know.

MR, SMITH: All right. That's fine,

THE COURT: And I believe earlier you said
"probably not in there," if I remember correctly.

MR. SMITH: So, let me ask this.

THE COURT: Are you finished now?

MR. DUNCAN: If he's not golng to testify any
further about my question, I am.

MR, SMITH: Oh, okay.

MR. DUNCAN: Now, I'm done.

REDIRECT BXAMINATION

BY MR. SMITH:
0 S50, let me ask this. Tf it's in the -- 1if it's not

the constitution, if -- if -- if a member sexually

in
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assaults

-— or a pastor sexually assaults a child, y'all

can't suspend

a seat,

record.

MR.

THE

MR.

MR.

THE

MR,

THE

THE

THE

because him because of your constitution?
DUNCAN: Objection.
WITNESS: We would suspend him.
SMITH: All right, then.
DUNCAN: Wo further questions, Your Honor.
COURT: Okay. You may step down.
sMITH: Okay. Ms. Robin Smith.
{The witness was sworn in.)

CLERK: Thank you, ma'am, Tf you would have

and when you get seated, state your name for the

BAILTIFF: Would you like some water?

WITNESS: I'm. Okay, thank you. Rebin Joan

ROBIN JOAN SMITH

was called as a witness, and having been fixst duly sworn,

testified as follows:

BY MS. SMITH:

Fo TN B o B

DIRECT KXAMINATION

" Where do vyou live, Ms. Smith?

67 ¥Farrell Lane, Greenville, South Carclina,.

How long have you lived there?

Por 35 years.

Okay.

Are you married?
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Yes.

Who are you married to?

Charles Bennie Smith.

All right. And, he's in the courtroom today?
vyes, he is.

Does he have any health problems?

Yes.

A

Q

A

Q

A

Q

A

Q What kind of health problems does he have?
A Well, he has COPD and he's a diabetic.

Q And, did he serve in the military?

A Yes, he did. He was in Vietnam.

Q Does he suffer from PSS ——

A Yes. Yes, he does.

O -—- okay. Posttraumatic stress syndrome?
A That's correct.

Q

All right. Now, how loag have you been a member of

Enoree Fork Baptist Church?

A Since November of 1985.

Q Okay. And, are you an officer in the church?

A Yes. T serve several positions in the church.

0] okay. Even right now?

A Yes.

0 All right. And, you were you present when Reverend

Jackson and did you vote for rReverend Jackson to be hired

as a pastor of that church?
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A Yes, I did.

0 All right. And when was that, do you recail?

A That was actually in 2015,

Q Around August?

A Tt was around August of 2015, vyes.

Q Okay. From August until January, were you apprised of
any meetings about a constitution?

A There was. You know, because I traveled a lot with my
job, he actually passed 1t out to some of the members, but
because of my travel, T didn't get to vote on that.

G Okay. 8o, let me ask this. How do you know he passed
it out some of the members? |
A Because my husband showed me a copy of it.

9 Now, how far did you go in school?

A I graduated from Baptist College of Charleston with a
bachelqrs degree, and then I furthered my education a
1ittle bit at Greenville Tech.

Q All right. And, what profession are you in?

A I semi~retired. T actually worked for the Department
of Labor years ago, and I was in research for over 50 many
years and I traveled throughout the United States. And
now, because I'm semi-retired, I do a little medical -- I
work for Acro Courier, so I do medical courier, picking up
labs and delivering labs.

Q Did you —-- did there come a time when you decided to
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part company, church company, with Reverend Jackson?

A No.

Q Okay. So, you didn't want him firved?

A Well, when you say "part," I thought you meant to
ileave, you know, my current church. But there was a time
that I no longer wanted Reverend Jackson to be our pastor.
0 And why 1s that?

A That's bhecause of misappropriation of funds, and also
because of a lot of his actions that occurred within our
church family.

o] Okavy. what kind of actions?

A Just like, for instance, when he was first hired,
maybe three months later, he gave us this list of items
that the church needed to purchase, which was over
$16,000. It put a red flag in my mind at that time.

MR. DUNCAN: I'm going to object to the
relevance of this for this particular case.

THE COURT: I'm going toc allow it.

MR. SMITH: Thank you.

THE WITNESS: And then, there was a time that he
mentioned that we needed another church van, and he kept
making comments about oh, it was going to help. And we
had a church meeting. I did not agree with that --

BY MR. SMITH:

9] Okay.
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A —— for the simple reason that we could not afford it.
And we didn't need a van, if we had a van that was sitting
out there. I felt that it was something for his

Steppingstone Company =~

Q Okay.
A .- that he was a part of.
Q A1l right. 8o -- 80 ~~7 but that was all church

governance?

A It was all church governance. And then he also talked
about actually having some type of plan to -~ to upgrade
the church where we were to pay a certain amount of money
to buy a brick. And then, he had church members starting
to pay money on that.

Q Okay.

A T didn't --

Q You just didn't agree with that?

A —— T did not even start that, pecause I salid you're

not going to take my money.

Q Right.

A Yeah, exactly.

Q Okay.

a 50 it's kind of like a precedent was set.

¢ Okay. BSo, did you participate in any meetings to
terminate his contract —-- suspend him first?

A Yes.
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Q And why did vou want to sauspend him?

A Well, because of his actiong and, unfortunately, the
way things were going for our church family.

Q All right.

A Okay? Yes.

Q And so, at some point over certain matters —-— we're
not going to go out into all of it but I want to just
touch on it a little bit ~— the sheriff's department got
involved a little bit, and then they didn't get involved,
is that correct —-—

A That's correct.

Q —~ with regard to it? And that's what y'all were
looking at, y'all wanted to find out what was going on
with the money?

A Exactly.

Q Ookay. Y'all hadn't made any accusatlons against him
specifically at that time, had you?

A No.

Q All right. g0 then, the -- he was suspended based on
these documents up here; is that correct? You signed one
of them?

A ves. When we had the meeting. But may I back up for
a moment?

Q Yes, ma'am.

A We tried to have a church meeting. We passed out a
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document. And this was in October of 2000 -- I know we
tried to have a meeting in October of 2016, He would not
allow us to have that church meeting.

Q And how would he prevent y'all from having a church
meeting if y'all wanted to have onev?

A Well, we pass oul the documents, and with him heing
the pastor, you know, unfortunately, you know, it was what
it was at that time. So, it was like there's not going to
be a meeting, you know, that’s what was said. I remember
being at church that Sunday, and it was like there's not
going to be a meeting.

0 So, in following the terxrms and conditions of the
constitution, yfall could have asked the pastor to set a

meeting?

A Yes.
Q and y'all were expecting -- you had the expectation he
would?

A Exactly.

Q But that never occurred?
A It never occurred.
Q And y'all wanted to discuss a personnel matter, is

that what 1t was?
A We wanted to discuss personnel matters, and also other
items that was happening within ouxr church family.

Q S0, what did y'all have to do when he wouldn't call
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the meeting?

A Well, what we had to reach out.

Q And, who did you reach out to?

A We reached out to Moderator Brantley asking him if he
could possibly have a meeting over at the Enoree
Association Center that's located on Dallas Road in

Greenville -—-

QO Okay.
A ~- and he agreed to that.
Q And what was Reverend Jackson's response when ylall

decided to try to use other means to have a meeting?

A Well, unfortunately, I got kicked out of the church,
and there were others. So I feel that that was like a
rebuttal, but we still had the meeting, yeah.

Q Okay. So, you get kicked out of the church, and then
you -- you get kicked out, and then you become an active
member at that point?

A That's correct.

O And, what happened to your husband?

A He got kicked out. T mean, he just started kicking
members out of the churxch. I remember being on traveling
and one of my church members called and said, Robin, he
had a meeting and he kicked you out --

Q Right.

A -- you know. So, unfortunately, it happened to guite
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a few of us.

0 So, how can you comply with the constitution when he

starts kicking you out of the church and you want to have
a meeting?

A T don't see how we were able to do it at the church,

that's why we went to the Enoree Assocliation.

0 All right.

A and we also reached out to the moderator and even the
state --
Q Okay.
A —_ in Columbia. That's where the main office is, in
Columbia.

Q And then, as a last resort, y'all come toO me?

A Yes.

0 And your husband files a lawsuit?

A Yes, that's correct.

Q But all of that could have been avoided if there was
just a meeting?

A Just a meeting.

Q Okay. So, Judge Gravely issues an order and y'all get
to come to a meeting on April the 15th, 2017; is that
correct?

A Yes.

Q and, before that meeling, there were some officers of

the churech decided to terminate or make a recommendation
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that Jackson be terminated?

A Yes.

Q pid they bring theixr recommendation of termination to
fhe body of the church to have it acted upon?

A They did when we had that meeting at the Enoree
Association Center on Dallas Road. We confirmed had voted
that he was to be no longer our pastor.

Q Okay. So that happened on April the i15th, 20177

A Well, it happened —-- we actually had our reeting prior
fo that date --

0 Okay.

A -- okay, at the Enoree Association where we signed the
sheet confirming that we no longer wanted him to be our
pastor -—-

Q All right.

A —- okay?

Q And once that happened, y'all went to the meeting on

the 15th?

A Yes.

Q That was the day before he --

A And the judge ordered that meeting --

Q ~- all right.

A —— about our constitution, and also for us to handile

that.

Q And 1if a majority vote had happened at that meeting
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and they wanted to have him back as pastor y'all would
have accepted that, wouldn't you?

A Yes, we would. We would have, vyou know, if we voted
to do that --

Right.

- yes.

But that never came up, did it?

No, it did not.

And then, the meeting was disbanded?

B o B I © S S o

On -- on the -- on April the 15th, 2017, is when we
all were relnstated because, you know, we were all

reinstated in order for us to vote in order to confirm
that we were to go back to the previous constitution. So

we were relinstated, vyes.

0 All right. So that meant the trespass notices and all

that stuff went out the window?
A That's correct.

0 And so, the people who had trespass notices could

actually come back to FKnoree Ford at 100 Greer {sic] Road;

is that correct?

A Yes. They were welcome to come hack.

Q Did they ever come back?

A No.

] All right. Were you ever mean to Zelma Brown?

A No. She's an AKA and I'm a Delta but, othex than
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that, you know, we go back and forth on that.

0 Right.
A We have a little fun. You know, you try to have some
fun

Q Yeah. My wife's a Delta.

A Yeah.

Q And the -~ what about Ms. Cynthia Robinson, she can
come back to the church anytime?

A Yes, she can come back. I've seen her over at
Reverend Williams' church in Anderson a few times. I've
gone ovexr to that chuxch --

Qkay.

-- and she attends at times.

All right.

Yeah.

Did you to terminate him for any 111l will?

No.,

roT- I o B N o - =

All right. Do you want him to come back and be the
pastor at your church at 100 Greer {sic] Road?

A No, T do not.

Q You don't have a problem with him calling himself
fnoree Fork somewhere else, do you?

A That's a conflict of interest.

Q You think that's a conflict of interest?

A Yes, mm—hmm. Yes.
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4] All right. Thank you.

THE COURT: Finished?

MR. SMITH: Yes, sir, finished. I'm sorxry.
Your witness, brother.

THE COURT: Cross-examination?

CROSS-EXAMINATION

RY MR. DUNCAN:
Q All right. Ms. Smith, you talked about going to a
moderator and going to the state convention, right, about
-— about Lhe issues that the church was having; correct?
A We made contact with the main office in Columbia, and
then the moderator for the Enoree Association, and also
Reverend Simmons, which is over to Upstate.
Q Right. And no action was taken by any of those
boards, were they?
A Will you elaborate on that, please?
Q They didn't say Pastor Jackson has to go, did they?
A No, Lhey did not, because our meeting was based on
what Judge Gravely had instructed us to do, which was to
have that meeting on April the 15th, and we scheduled it
over at the Enoree Asscciation.
Q Okay. But you also talked about a different meeting
with Moderator Brantley. Is that --
A Yes, uh-huh, that's correct.

Q -~ all right. And he didn't do anything, did he?
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A He allowed us to have that meeting, mm-hmm.

Q But he didn't say that you were right and Pastor
Jackson had to go, did he?

A We didn't ask him that question.

Q Okay. Didn't Moderator Brantley send you a letter

after that meeting?

A You know, he did send me a letter.
Q Okay.
A And that letter, because I was missionary president,

the letter said that I was no longer missionary president
because Reverend Jackson had kicked me out of the church.
The letter didn't specifically was worded that way, so
Reverend Brantley did give me a copy of that letter
because Sylvester Jackson made him aware that Robin Smith
is no longer a member of Enoree Fork Baptist Church, 80
she's no longer the missionary president. However, the
letter was glven to me, but I continued to be missionary
president within the association rules, not within
Reverend Sylvester Jackson's rules or thoughts,

0 But he also sent you a letter stating that the meeting
that you tried to have with -- with -- with Moderator
Brantley was improper, didn't he?

A Well, we all, as a church family. I wasn't an
individual person at that meeting.

Q But —--
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A The church that signed -- all of the church memhexrs
that was present at that meeting. We had that meeting,
and Moderator Brantley dld not say we could not, or elase
we would not have been there.
Q ——‘right. But after the meeting, he said that was an
unofficial meeting and wasn't -—-
A I don't remember.

MR. DUNCAN: That's all I have, Your Honor.

MR, SMITH: Let me ask one gquestion.

THE COURT: Any redirect?

MR, SMITH: Yes, sir.

REDIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. SMITH:
0 When -—- when Judge Gravely gave that order you were
responding to, he follow the constitution. He didn't say
which constitution to follow, did he?
A No, he did not.

MR. DUNCAN: WNo questions, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right., You may step down,
ma'am,

THE WITNESS: Thank vyou.

THE COURT: Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH: Yes, air. Yeah, I'm calling
Ms. Brenda Davis.

(The witness was sworn in.)
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